SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Case No. SC02-709

Lower Tribunal Case Numbers: 00-13811, 00-13986

AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant,

VS.

NATIONAL RAILROAD PASSENGER CORPORATION, ETC., ET AL.

Appel	lees.		

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY ON THE FIRST CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE 11TH CIRCUIT

Michael R. Karcher, Esquire UNDERWOOD, KARCHER & KARCHER, P.A. Attorneys for Appellant Grove Plaza Building - 6th Floor 2900 S.W. 28th Terrace Miami, Florida 33133 Telephone: (305) 446-2300

Telephone: (305) 446-2300 Facsimile: (305) 446-5858

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant/Plaintiff, AMERICAN HOME, is seeking to recover damages in this subrogation claim for the loss of its insured's cargo which was destroyed in a truck/train collision. This appeal arises from a March 26, 2002 opinion of the United States Court of Appeals for the 11th Circuit which certified a question of Florida law to the Florida Supreme Court.

PROCEEDINGS IN THE COURT BELOW

The Appellant/Plaintiff, AMERICAN HOME, filed its claim for damages against Defendants NATIONAL RAILROAD PASSENGER CORPORATION, CSX TRANSPORTATION, ROUNTREE TRANSPORT AND RIGGING, and the other Defendants on September 12, 1994, Case No. 94-976-CIV-ORL-18C. (A-3) (R-A-1) This matter was consolidated with the original lawsuit, NATIONAL RAILROAD PASSENGER CORPORATION, et al. versus ROUNTREE TRANSPORT, et al., Case No. 93-01090-CIV-ORL-18 along with approximately one dozen claims arising out of this same incident. (A-1-5)

A trial solely on the issue of liability for the incident was held in November of 1996 and a jury verdict was rendered on November 21, 1996. (A-1-11) (R-B-1984) Damage trials were set for the personal injury claimants and on December 1, 1999, a

trial was held for AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY'S damages. On July 14, 2000, the Court issued its Final Order on the issue of liability and damages for AMERICAN HOME'S claim. (A-2) Appellant appealed from this Order to the United States Court of Appeals for the 11th Circuit. On March 26, 2002 the 11th Circuit issued an opinion certifying four questions to the Florida Supreme Court. AMERICAN HOME files this brief on the first question. (A-1-55)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of a November 30, 1993 collision in which an Amtrak train (NRPC) moving on the railroad tracks of CSX, hit a tractor-trailer owned by ROUNTREE TRANSPORT & RIGGING, whose vehicle had become immobilized on a railroad crossing in the course of transporting an 82-ton generator to a power plant of the KISSIMMEE UTILITY AUTHORITY, in Kissimmee, Florida. (A-6-1) This crash resulted in numerous personal injury and property damage claims arising out of this accident. (A-1-10)

The Appellant/Plaintiff, AMERICAN HOME, is the subrogated cargo insurer for Stewart & Stevenson Services, the shipper of the 82-ton turbine generator which was being transported by ROUNTREE at the time of the accident. The turbine was destroyed in the crash. (A-1-9) (R-A-100-30) AMERICAN HOME paid the insurance claim to Stewart & Stevenson for the loss of cargo. (A-1-10) (R-A-100-16)

Stewart & Stevenson (hereinafter "S&S") was the manufacturer and seller of a turbine generator unit. This turbine generator unit was sold to General Electric for \$12,219,213. (R-A-100-20) General Electric then sold it to Defendants KUA and FMPA, in Kissimmee, Florida. The unit was to be delivered from Houston, Texas to the KUA plant near Kissimmee, Florida. (A-1-10) (R-A-1969-2)

S&S hired Woko Transportation for the inland portion of the trip between Tampa and the KUA plant. (R-A-1967-2) Woko contracted with ROUNTREE to carry the unit. ROUNTREE hired CSX Railroad personnel to serve as a flagman to accompany the transporter on the route and across railroad tracks. (R-B-1969-2)

The vehicle carrying the 82-ton S&S generator was not able to cross the tracks at the KUA plant access road. It was unable to negotiate the hump in the road on the railroad tracks and while attempting to free the truck, it was struck by the NRPC train, resulting in the destruction of the turbine riding on the truck. (R-B-1969-2) After paying the claim under the cargo insurance policy for that portion of the shipment destroyed on the truck, Appellant, AMERICAN HOME, brought this subrogation action for the loss of the cargo. (R-A-1)(R-A-100-16)

On October 23, 1996, Judge Robert Merhige, a visiting judge from the U.S. District Court in Eastern Virginia, separated this case into two trials on liability and damages. (R-B-178). A three-week combined trial for all claimants and defendants in all the consolidated cases was held on the issue of liability and on November 21, 1996, a jury verdict was entered in favor of the Plaintiffs, finding that the following Defendants were liable to the Plaintiff for the following percentages of negligence. (A-3) (R-B-1984)

ROUNTREE TRUCKING	59%
NRPC	08%
CSX	33%
Woko Transportation	0%
Black & Veatch	0%
FMPA	0%
Roy Benton Crain	0%.

The Court in a separate Order on November 20, 1996 granted Stewart & Stevenson (AMERICAN HOME'S insured) and General Electric's motions holding as a matter of law that Stewart & Stevenson and General Electric had no direct negligence. (A-4) (A-5) (R-B-1968) (R-B-1969)

The Court on December 3, 1996 granted Defendant Black & Veatch's motion, holding that the transportation of this cargo was inherently dangerous as a matter of law and held that Defendants Woko, Stewart & Stevenson and General Electric were all parties who may properly be held vicariously liable for the negligence of ROUNTREE. (A-6) (A-7) (R-B-1980-1979) The Court noted that S&S, GE and Woko were innocent parties who are vicariously liable for damages which are wholly the fault of ROUNTREE (A-7-20) (R-B-1980-20).

On April 1, 1999, the Court ordered that ROUNTREE was entitled to a limitation of liability to the (\$1,000,000) amount of its insurance based on the Stewart & Stevenson contract with Woko Transportation. (A-8) (R-B-2183)

The District Court then proceeded to the damage phase. On the eve of the damage trial Judge James Watson, a visiting judge from the Southern District of New York, held that Appellant/Plaintiff AMERICAN HOME, through its insured Stewart & Stevenson, would have ROUNTREE'S negligence applied to AMERICAN HOME and that AMERICAN HOME would be 41% negligent. (A-2-3) (R-A-99-16)

On December 1, 1999, the trial was held on the issue of AMERICAN HOME'S damages. (R-A-100) The Court directed a verdict and held that damages were found in the amount of \$4,516.640 as the total damages suffered by AMERICAN HOME from the crash. (A-2-4) (R-A-100-79)

At the close of trial the Court then determined that this amount would be reduced by 41% of the total amount, as AMERICAN HOME would be held liable for ROUNTREE'S comparative fault, reducing the total amount of damages to \$1,851,822.40. (A-2-4) (R-A-100-79)

The Court further found that ROUNTREE was entitled to its \$1,000,000 limitation of liability for its percentage of the damages, and that Defendants NRPC and CSX would receive a setoff of \$1,000,000 (paid by ROUNTREE) to their percentage of damages and they would only have to pay \$851,822.40, (A-2-4) (R-A-100-80) or less than one-half of their combined percent of negligence. Appellant AMERICAN HOME appealed this Final Judgment.

The 11th Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court's ruling that AMERICAN HOME had proven damages totaling \$4,546,640.00. (A-1-30) The 11th Circuit further agreed with the District Court that ROUNTREE'S negligence resulted from its failure to take special precautions required for transporting an oversized combustion turbine in a complex, specially equipped vehicle. The 11th Circuit affirmed that the transportation of the turbine was inherently dangerous and that STEWART & STEVENSON could be held vicariously liable for ROUNTREE'S negligence. (A-1-43)

The final issue put before the 11th Circuit by AMERICAN HOME was that even if the transportation of the combustion turbine was an inherently dangerous activity, AMERICAN HOME should not have been limited in its recovery to 41% of its damages as it was merely a vicariously liable party. The 11th Circuit Found that this was a matter of Florida law and certified this question to this Court. (A-1-55)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY is seeking to recover the full extent of its damages as determined by the trial court. As the subrogee for Stewart & Stevenson, AMERICAN HOME claims that because Stewart & Stevenson was only vicariously liable for the collision, the District Court erred in its application of Florida comparative law fault principles, as set forth in Florida Statute §768.81 to reduce AMERICAN HOME'S damages to only 41% of the total amount.

In November 0f 1996, a jury trial was held in all the consolidated cases which found that only ROUNTREE, NRPC and CSX were negligent. (A-3-1) The Court further found that AMERICAN HOME'S subrogee, Stewart & Stevenson, had no negligence as a matter of law. (A-4) (A-5)

It is the Appellant/Plaintiff's contention that they are entitled to the full amount of their damages. Stewart & Stevenson should not be held to be negligent, as Stewart & Stevenson was found as a matter of law not to be negligent. (A-4) (A-5)

The District Court found that Stewart & Stevenson was only vicariously liable for ROUNTREE'S negligence. (A-2-3) Stewart & Stevenson (and AMERICAN HOME) were not negligent or at fault for this loss. The District Court incorrectly equated vicarious liability with negligence. Under Florida law these are not the same thing. As Stewart & Stevenson was held not to be negligent, and in fact held to be an

innocent party, the negligence of ROUNTREE cannot be applied to Stewart & Stevenson. This Court has differentiated "fault" from "vicarious liability". One is a matter of direct participation in a negligent action. The other is liability attributed to a party based solely on their relationship.

The Court further reduced the amount of the damage award by subtracting ROUNTREE'S negligence from AMERICAN HOME'S recovery, and then subtracting the amount ROUNTREE paid from that portion of the damages which would be paid by NRPC and CSX. (Essentially taking the ROUNTREE portion of the judgment and subtracting it from NRPC and CSX's 41% of damages, essentially giving CSX and NRPC an approximately 50% discount on their percentage of fault.) (A-2-4)

Florida Statute 768.81 should not be applied in this manner to reduce AMERICAN HOME'S damages, as they were not held to be at fault.

ARGUMENT

I. SHOULD A VICARIOUSLY LIABLE PARTY HAVE THE NEGLIGENCE OF THE ACTIVE TORTFEASOR APPORTIONED TO IT UNDER FLORIDA STATUTE 768.81 SUCH THAT RECOVERY OF ITS OWN DAMAGES IS REDUCED CONCOMITANTLY?

The Appellant/Plaintiff AMERICAN HOME brought its subrogation claim against the Defendants for destruction of the turbine which was being shipped to the KUA plant. This portion of the shipment was innocent cargo and was sitting on the back of the ROUNTREE transport when it was struck by the NRPC train.

A jury trial was held and based on the jury verdict on the issue of liability, the Court found that the defendants were negligent in the following percentages.

Rountree Trucking		59%	
NRPC	8%		
CSX	33%		
Woko Transportation	0%		
Black & Veatch	0%		
KUA	0%		
FMPA	0%		
Roy Benton Crane	0%		(A-3) (R-B-1984)

The Court in its Final Judgment ruled that at the conclusion of the jury trial on liability of the consolidated action, a verdict was entered assessing fault between the various parties as follows: 59% Rountree; 33% CSX and 8% NRPC. (A-2) (R-B-2363)

The District Court further ruled as a matter of law by Order dated December 3, 1996 that the transportation of the subject turbine was an inherently dangerous activity such that all of those entities in the chain of responsibility for delivery of said turbine, that is GE, S&S and Woko were vicariously liable for the 59% negligence assessed to ROUNTREE by the jury. (A-7) (R-B-1979)

The District Court further ruled on November 20, 1996 (A-4) (R-B-1968) (R-B-1969) in favor of General Electric and Stewart & Stevenson granting their motions for judgment as a matter of law on all negligence claims against GE and Stewart & Stevenson, that there was no "direct negligence" claims against GE and Stewart & Stevenson. No evidence was introduced by any of the parties of any act of negligence that can be said to have proximately caused the collision which is the subject of this trial. (R-B-1969-6). (The Court in its ruling differentiated between the lack of negligence and the fact that there may be potential liability under the inherently dangerous work doctrine, separating fault or negligence from liability.) (A-7-22)

The District Court in its December 3, 1996 Order held that GE and S&S and Woko are parties who may properly be held vicariously liable for the negligence of ROUNTREE under the inherently dangerous work doctrine. (A-6) (A-7) In a footnote the District Court noted that "GE and S&S may be entitled to indemnity from ROUNTREE as they are innocent parties who are vicarious liable for the damages

which are wholly the fault of ROUNTREE". (A-7-22) The Court again differentiates between fault and vicarious liability.

As a result of the jury verdict and these series of rulings, ROUNTREE, NRPC and CSX were found to have been negligent and at fault for this loss. AMERICAN HOME'S subrogee, Stewart & Stevenson, was found to have been not negligent as a matter of law by the Court. In essence, Stewart & Stevenson is zero percent negligent. While AMERICAN HOME, through its subrogee Stewart & Stevenson, was found to be zero percent negligent and not at fault, the Court nevertheless applied the vicarious liability of Stewart & Stevenson to ROUNTREE and limited their damages by 41%. (A-5-3) The Court erred by equating negligence or fault with vicarious liability.

Setting aside the vicarious liability ruling for the moment, the three Defendants would be responsible for the payment of these economic damages under the Doctrine of Joint and Several Liability. Florida Statute §768.81(comparative fault) controls the apportionment of damages for this claim. The Plaintiff has suffered what would be defined as "economic damages" under the Florida statute, which includes, replacement value of lost personal property, loss of construction repairs, including labor, overhead and profit; and any other economic loss which would not have occurred but for the injury giving rise to the cause of action. (A-9)

Here there are three negligent parties, and the question becomes one of apportionment of damages. Under Section 3 of the statute, as it was written and in effect at the time of the loss and the trial, apportionment of damages of economic damages are joint and several.

(3) APPORTIONMENT OF DAMAGES - In cases to which this section applies, the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of joint and several liability; provided that, with respect to any party whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant, the court shall enter judgment with respect to economic damages against that party on the basis of the Doctrine of Joint and Several Liability. (Emphasis added.) (A-9)

Section 768.81 of the Florida Statutes was amended in 1999. These amendments postdate the November 1993 accident when the cause of action accrued. Under the version of §768.81 in effect at the time of the accident, there was no limit to the amount of economic damages that could be recovered against each defendant whose fault was equal to or greater than the claimant's. (A-9) The 1999 amendments have since put constraints on the amount of damages that a plaintiff could recover.

This issues was examined recently in the case of <u>Basel v. McFarland & Sons</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D 792 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) which held that the 1999 amendments constitute a further alteration in a plaintiff's right to recover from a

particular defendant for his injuries. The Court concluded that the 1999 amendment must be applied prospectively and is inapplicable to a case where the action accrued earlier in 1994. The Florida 5th District Court of Appeals reversed the entry of the final judgment award and remanded it back to the trial court to apply the version of \$768.81(3), Florida Statutes that was in existence in August of 1994 when the accident occurred. See, Basel v. McFarland & Sons, Inc., 27 Fla. L. Weekly D 792 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). Here the accident occurred in November of 1993, so the earlier version would apply.

All damages claimed by AMERICAN HOME are "economic damages." They involve the loss of the turbine generator itself, and not any non-economic damages. The Defendants, NRPC, CSX and ROUNTREE, each have a percentage of fault that equals or exceeds that of this particular claimant. (AMERICAN HOME or Stewart & Stevenson whose negligence was 0%). Therefore, a judgment with respect to economic damages should be entered on the basis of the Doctrine of Joint and Several Liability. The District Court in its Final Judgment has ruled that as a result of the vicarious liability ruling, AMERICAN HOME should be considered 59% negligent. However, the Court incorrectly equates fault or negligence with vicarious liability which is not in accordance with the statute.

The Court has ruled that the transportation of this item was an "inherently dangerous activity," (A-6) (R-B-1980) Specifically, the Court "finds that the transportation of the turbine was an inherently dangerous activity under Florida law. Moreover, the Court found that GE, S&S, and Woco are parties who may properly be held vicariously liable for the negligence of ROUNTREE under the Inherently Dangerous Work Doctrine." The Court further notes in a footnote that "The Court notes, without deciding, that under Atlantic Coast, 386 So.2d 676, GE, S&S and Woco may be entitled to indemnity from ROUNTREE as they are innocent parties who are vicariously liable for damages which are wholly the fault of ROUNTREE. (Footnote 17). (Emphasis added). (A-7-22) (R-B-1979-22)

Defendants CSX and NRPC are seeking to have the negligence of ROUNTREE (59%) applied to AMERICAN HOME through their insured, Stewart & Stevenson. This is wholly inappropriate as Stewart & Stevenson was found to be **without fault** and therefore, Florida Statute §768.81 (comparative fault) applies, and judgment will still be based on the doctrine and joint and several liability among negligent parties.

The statute is clear and unambiguous. It states that, "The Court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault."

(A-9) Here, Stewart & Stevenson (and AMERICAN HOME) were found to be not at fault and to be 0% negligent.

When examining this issue, this Court, in the case of Fabre v. Marin, 623 So.2d 1182, (Fla. 1993), speaking in terms of the legislative intent of §768.81 stated "We concluded the statute is unambiguous. By its clear terms, judgment should be entered against the party liable on the basis of that party's percentage of fault." Clearly, the only means of determining a party's percentage of fault is to compare that party's percentage to all the other entities who contributed to the accident, regardless of whether they have been or could have been joined as defendants. Fabre, 623 So.2d at 1185.

In <u>Fabre</u>, this Court spoke in terms of fault arising from the context of an "accident." The "fault" which gives rise to the accident is the "whole" from which the fact finder determines the party-defendant's percentage of liability. Clearly, the only means of determining a party's percentage of fault is to compare that party's percentage to all of the other entities who contributed to the accident, regardless of whether they have been or could have been joined as defendants. <u>Fabre</u>, 623 So.2d at 1185. Here, the Court equated a defendant's "fault" with the amount of its "negligence." <u>Walmart Stores v. McDonald</u>, 676 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

There was no negligence or fault on the part of Stewart & Stevenson. However,

Defendants have claimed that because of the vicarious liability of Stewart &

Stevenson, they should be held to the same standard of negligence as ROUNTREE.

This is direct contravention of the statute.

The statute speaks solely of fault. (A-9) Vicarious liability is not a question of fault, but only a party's liabilities to other claimants. Vicarious liability is liability without fault. This Court, in Nash v. Wells Fargo Guard Services, 678 So.2d 1262 (Fla. 1996), specifically did not hold vicarious liability to be the same as fault. In Nash, it was stated that:

We further hold that the named defendant cannot rely on the vicarious liability of a non-party to establish the non-party's fault.

678 So.2d 1262 and 1264. There, this Court holds that vicarious liability is not equated to fault.

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