SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant, Case No. SC02-709

00-13986, 00-13811

11th Circuit Case Nos.:

VS.

NATIONAL RAILROAD PASSENGER CORPORATION, ETC., ET AL.

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES NATIONAL RAILROAD PASSENGER CORPORATION and CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC. ON THE FIRST CERTIFIED OUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE 11TH CIRCUIT

> WILLIAM G. BALLAINE (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) LANDMAN CORSI BALLAINE & FORD P.C. 120 Broadway - 27th Floor New York, New York 10271-0079

Tel: (212) 238-4800 Facsimile: (212) 238-4848

> Attorneys for Appellees/ Cross-Appellees National Railroad Passenger Corporation and CSX Transportation, Inc.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should answer in the affirmative the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Section 768.81, Florida Statutes, applies in this case to reduce AHA's property damage recovery against the Railroad Appellees.

Taking the legislature's words at face value,

Rountree's 59 percent negligence is "chargeable" to S&S

and its subrogee, AHA, under section 768.81(2) by reason

of S&S's vicarious liability under Florida's inherently

dangerous activity doctrine. Section 768.81(2) does not

require that the claimant personally be at fault. It

requires only "chargeable" fault.

The circumstances surrounding enactment of the comparative fault statute, § 768.81, Fla. Stat., fully support this result. The statute abandoned the "all or nothing rule" represented by common law principles of joint and several liability and contributory negligence. It embraced a "middle ground" in which each negligent party's liability depended on its degree of fault, not

the solvency of its co-defendants. AHA's position rejects the middle ground.

AHA's position also deviates from prior common law. Under the "all or nothing rule," vicariously-liable automobile owners were liable in full to injured thirdparties for the driver's negligence and also were completely barred from obtaining any affirmative recovery against independent tortfeasors. This result was modified by this Court's landmark decision abrogating the contributory negligence bar, but that decision, properly applied, only allows a vicariouslyliable auto owner to recover from an independent tortfeasor after reducing the claimant's total damages based on the percentage fault of the driver for whom the owner bore legal responsibility. AHA's proposed reading of section 768.81(2) to allow a vicariously-liable claimant full recovery thus violates fundamental rules of statutory construction that are applicable because section 768.81 is in derogation of common law.

Public policy further supports the Railroad

Appellees' position concerning section 768.81(2). AHA's subrogor breached its non-delegable duty to protect the safety of the public. It failed to take measures at the very outset to ensure that an inherently dangerous activity would be properly performed by an independent contractor. Moreover, to accept AHA's position violates the public policy proposition that a party which originates a dangerous activity is in the best position to make sure that there will be adequate resources with which to pay the damages caused by any ensuing negligent conduct that is attributable to the independent contractor.

The Railroad Appellees' position is also consistent with Florida's contribution statute, § 768.31, Fla.

Stat. That statute treats the passive and active tortfeasor as one for fault allocation purposes, preserving the passive tortfeasor's common law right to full indemnification from the active tortfeasor.

The decisions of this Court cited by AHA do not support AHA's interpretation. None involves the

comparative fault of a claimant. None interprets or applies section 768.81(2). And AHA's position brushes aside this Court's teaching that the major thrust of section 768.81 is to apportion liability based on each particular tortfeasor's percentage of fault.

Applying section 768.81(2) to reduce AHA's damage recovery against Amtrak and CSXT is eminently fair. It requires AHA to look to Rountree for recovery on 59 percent of AHA's damages. If the conduct of AHA's insured now prevents AHA from achieving full recovery, that is as it should be. AHA's subrogor, S&S, had the duty to ensure that Rountree would not transport the combustion turbine over Florida's roads in a negligent manner and to make sure that there would be adequate resources to pay for any damages in the event of Rountree's negligence.

ARGUMENT

ROUNTREE'S COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE WAS CHARGEABLE
TO AHA, AS S&S'S SUBROGEE, AND PROPERLY
APPLIED TO DIMINISH PROPORTIONATELY AHA'S
PROPERTY DAMAGE RECOVERY FROM CSXT AND
AMTRAK UNDER § 768.81(2), FLA. STAT.

AHA does not contest that AHA stands in the shoes of S&S, its insured, for purposes of its property damage claim. Nor, in light of the Eleventh Circuit's decision, can AHA continue to contest that S&S is vicariously liable for Rountree's comparative negligence under the inherently dangerous activity doctrine. The only issue, therefore, is whether AHA's vicariously-imposed fault should be taken into account, rather than ignored, in applying the comparative fault provisions set forth in section 768.81, Florida Statutes.4

⁴ As the Court of Appeals' opinion points out, two versions of section 768.81 were referred to during briefing in the Eleventh Circuit, the version in effect when the accident occurred (see § 768.81, Fla. Stat. Ann. (West 1997)) and the version reflecting amendments effective October 1, 1999 (see § 768.81, Fla. Stat. Ann. (West Supp. 2002). Rountree, 286 F.3d at 1258, n.24; AHA App-1-55-56, n.24. Subsection (2) reads the same in both versions and the Railroad Appellees respectfully submit that this Court need not address which version of

As a threshold matter, there can be no dispute that section 768.81 applies to all negligence cases, including "but . . . not limited to, civil actions for damages based on theories of negligence, strict liability, products liability, professional malpractice . . . or breach of warranty and like theories." § 768.81(4)(a), Fla. Stat. The inherently dangerous activity theory on which S&S (and thus AHA) have been held vicariously liable for Rountree's negligence is, beyond peradventure, a "theory of negligence" and indeed, it may also be viewed as a form of "strict liability." Either way, the applicable vicarious liability theory is clearly subject to Florida's comparative negligence statute, § 768.81, Fla. Stat. See Prosser & Keeton, The Law of Torts, §69 at 499 (5th ed. 1984) (describing "vicarious liability" as "in one sense a form of strict liability" but, in any event, an action for negligence in which the law broadens the

the statute applies to the certified question presented by the Eleventh Circuit for determination.

liability for that fault).

As a "claimant," AHA's recovery rights are appropriately examined against the requirements of subsection (2) of section 768.81, entitled "Effect of contributory fault." Under section 768.81(2), any "contributory fault chargeable to the claimant diminishes proportionately the amount awarded as economic. . . damages for an injury attributable to the claimant's contributory fault, but does not bar recovery." § 7681(2), Fla. Stat. AHA reads section 768.81(2), to ignore the fault chargeable to AHA, through S&S, from Rountree, notwithstanding S&S's breach of its "nondelegable duty to perform, or have others perform, [inherently dangerous] work in a reasonably safe and careful manner." <u>Baxley</u>, 521 So.2d at 172. Neither a fair reading of section 768.81(2), nor instructive case law, nor public policy supports AHA's position.

Although section 768.81(2) clearly addresses the handling of "contributory fault chargeable to the

claimant," AHA's Initial Brief never once directly confronts the legislature's use of this phrase. Instead, AHA asks this Court to focus only on the statute's use of the word "fault," insisting that since S&S was not itself negligent, it could not be deemed at "fault" for purposes of section 768.81. See AHA Initial Brief at 8-9, 12, 17, 22, 23. AHA's myopic attention to the single word "fault," rather than to the entire phrase used in subsection (2) - - "contributory fault chargeable" - - is revealing. It suggests AHA is all too aware that §768.81(2) covers far more "fault" than AHA would like. See Cody v. Kernaghan, 682 So. 2d 1147, 1149 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 1996) (Under section 768.81(2), doctrine of comparative negligence applies "to reduce . . . economic damages by percentage of fault which can be <u>attributed</u> to the plaintiff")(emphasis added).

In point of fact, it blinks at reality for AHA to contend that "contributory fault chargeable" to a claimant refers only to negligent acts actually committed by that claimant, and not also to negligent

acts of another for which the claimant is held legally responsible under well-accepted common law principles of vicarious liability. The plain and ordinary meaning of the word "chargeable" is far too broad to permit such an unreasonably cramped interpretation. Black's Law Dictionary, for example, defines "chargeable" as follows:

This word, in its ordinary acceptation, as applicable to the imposition of a duty or burden, signifies capable of being charged, subject to the charged, liable to be charged, or proper to be charged.

Black's Law Dictionary at 295 (Revised 4th ed. 1968).

Similarly, Webster's Third New International Dictionary

377 (1961) defines "chargeable" as "liable to be accused or held responsible." Indeed, the basic definition of "vicarious liability" set forth in Prosser, The Law of

Torts § 69 makes clear that a vicariously-liable claimant should be considered a party "chargeable" with fault, i.e., negligence:

§ 69. Vicarious Liability

"A is negligent, B is not.

Imputed negligence" means that by reason of some relation existing between A and B, the negligence of A is to be charged against B....The result may be that B, in an action against C for his own injuries is barred from recovery because of A's negligence, to the same extent as if he had been negligent himself." (Emphasis added)

Prosser, § 69, p. 499. <u>See also</u> Restatement (Third) of Torts: Apportionment of Liability § 5 and comment b (1999) (instructing that when a party would be responsible as a defendant for a third person's negligence, that same negligence is imputed to the vicariously responsible party as a plaintiff).

In addition, the circumstances surrounding the Florida legislature's enactment of the comparative fault statute, §768.81, Fla. Stat., provide further support for the conclusion that section 768.81(2) must be read to reduce the amount recoverable by a vicariously-liable claimant. Enactment of section 768.81 "represented a policy shift in the State of Florida from joint and

several liability that resulted in a single recovery for the plaintiff to the apportionment of fault." Gouty v. <u>Schnepel</u>, 795 So.2d 959, 960 (Fla. 2001). For years prior to the emergence of this apportionment concept, Florida's tort law, as was true in all states, was rooted in principles of joint and several liability and contributory negligence, principles which amounted to an "all or nothing rule" for the plaintiff. See Smith v. Dep't of Insurance, 507 So. 2d 1080, 1090 (Fla. 1987). The Florida legislature's "policy shift" was dictated by "principles of fairness," which were thought to "require elimination of joint and several liability by making each party's liability dependent upon his degree of fault -- not on the solvency of his co-defendants -- and . . . at least a modification of joint and several liability in order to balance the system." Smith, 507 So.2d at 1090. As this Court aptly framed the issue in Smith:

> The real question in the joint and several liability problem is who should pay the damages

caused by an insolvent tortfeasor....[a] problem ... substantially compounded when the plaintiff is also at fault.

Smith, 507 So. 2d at 1091. The answer, according to
this Court, was as follows:

In answering the question of who should pay damages for the insolvent tortfeasor, the legislature chose a middle ground: both the plaintiff and the solvent defendant.

Smith, 507 So. 2d at 1091.

By applying section 768.81(2) to diminish AHA's recovery based on the fault of Rountree, the district court below clearly embraced the Florida legislature's "middle ground." AHA was not permitted to recover in full, nor was its recovery barred entirely. recovery was simply reduced by charging AHA with Rountree's percentage of fault. AHA, on the other hand, now asks this Court to invoke what would amount to a convenient hybrid of the "all or nothing rule." For purposes of S&S's liability to injured third parties, AHA no doubt would embrace the comparative negligence rule to limit S&S's maximum liability to 59 percent. But for purposes of AHA's own recovery, AHA would shed its mantle of comparative fault so that it may recover in full from all other active tortfeasors, without any diminution based on relative fault. AHA's position is antithetical to the "middle ground" adopted by Florida's legislature in its comparative negligence statute.

AHA's current argument is also antithetical to common law principles governing the rights of a

vicariously-liable claimant prior to enactment of section 768.81. Under settled case law in Florida prior to the introduction of the comparative negligence concept, an auto owner was not only liable to injured third parties for the driver's negligence under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, the "innocent" owner also was completely barred from any affirmative recovery against an independent third-party tortfeasor whose active negligence had contributed to the accident. See, e.g., Weber v. Porco, 100 So.2d 146 (Fla. 1956); Smith <u>v. Cline</u>, 158 So.2d 553 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963); <u>Gulick v.</u> Whitaker, 102 So.2d 847 (Fla. 2d DCA 1958); MacCurdy v. United States, 246 F.2d 67 (5th Cir. 1957), cert. denied, 355 U.S. 933 (1958). Shortly before enactment of section 768.81, this Court abolished the judiciallycreated doctrine of contributory negligence in the landmark decision of

Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973), and adopted a comparative negligence doctrine which receded from the harsh "all or nothing" rule. But <u>Hoffman</u> most

certainly did not mean that a vicariously-liable plaintiff could now obtain full recovery for its own damages. On the contrary, Hoffman was thereafter properly read to provide for reduction of the vicariously-liable claimant's damage recovery based on the percentage fault of the active tortfeasor for which the claimant bore legal responsibility. See Acevedo v. Acosta, 296 So. 2d 526, 529-30 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974) (recovery of plaintiff car owner reduced by percentage of negligence of driver because of owner's vicarious liability under dangerous instrumentality doctrine). See also 6 Fla. Prac., Personal Injury & Wrongful Death Actions § 5.7 Imputed Comparative Negligence (2001-2002 ed.) ("since the adoption of comparative negligence, imputing another person's negligence to an injured plaintiff will reduce the amount of his recovery in proportion to the degree of imputed negligence").

This case law demonstrates that AHA is asking this Court to substantially alter common law as it existed

when section 768.81 was enacted. In marked contrast to prior common law, AHA would read section 7678.81 to allow the vicariously-liable claimant to recover in full from other active tortfeasors, without any reduction for the relative fault of the tortfeasor for whom the claimant bears legal responsibility.

Since section 768.81 is clearly in derogation of common law on this issue, it must be strictly construed. Ady v. American Honda Finance Corp., 675 So. 2d 577, 581 (Fla. 1996). In so construing, this Court should "presume that [the] statute was not intended to alter the common law other than what was <u>clearly and plainly</u> specified in the statute." Ady, 675 So.2d at 581 (emphasis added). The language of the comparative negligence statute simply does not evince any affirmative legislative intent, let alone a clearlyspecified intent, to so dramatically alter the common law rights of a vicariously liable claimant, on the one hand, as against independent concurrent tortfeasors, on the other. AHA's position on section 678.81(2) thus

violates fundamental rules of statutory construction.

Public policy considerations also support an interpretation of section 768.81(2) that "charges" the vicariously-liable claimant with the fault of another active tortfeasor. S&S, and thus its subrogee AHA, may not have been "actively negligent," but, as the Eleventh Circuit held, S&S's vicarious liability indisputably resulted from its breach of a non-delegable legal duty to either personally perform or have others perform inherently dangerous work in a reasonably safe and careful manner. Rountree, 286 F.3d at 1248-49 and 1254, quoting Florida Power & Light Co., 170 So.2d at 295; Baxley, 521 So. 2d at 172; Atlantic Coast Dev. Corp. v. Napoleon Steel Contractors, Inc., 385 So.2d 676, 679 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). This duty is imposed under Florida law because the movement of an 82-ton combustion turbine over public and private roads in Florida involved a "recognizable and substantial danger," performance of which "in the ordinary course of events . . . would probably, and not merely possibly, cause injury if

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